NO. 72437-1-I 

COURT OF APPEALS, 
DIVISION I 

IN THE STATE OF WASHINGTON 

CLARK COUNTY, 
RESPONDENVPLAINTIFF 

v. 

PATRICK J. McMANUS, 
P ETITIONERIDEFENDANT. 

~ ~UL~?~ [5) 
CLERK OF THE SlWREME COURT S STATEOFWASHINGmtg:- · 

t> 
r---" t.n,' ) 
c"> 

:;:;;., 

{-,'" ~-· 
-- r- ~. 

('" .. : 
0 :!:·::_: 

PETITION FOR REVIEW TO THE SUPREME COURT 

BUSICK HAMRICK PALMER, PLLC 
STEVEN L. BUSICK 
DOUGLAS M. PALMER 
Attorneys for Appellant/Plaintiff 

By Steven L. Busick, WSBA # 1643 
By Douglas M. Palmer, WSBA #35198 
Busick Hamrick Palmer, PLLC 
PO Box 1385 
Vancouver, WA 98666 
360-696-0228

Issue Presented for Review 

No. 1. Where the well-established rule of law in Washington for 

cases arising out Title 51 RCW requires finders of fact to give special 

consideration to opinions of attending physicians and where an attending 

physician has testified, is the trial court required to advise the jury of this 

rule of law? 

The Supreme Court should grant review on this issue because 

Division I's decision in this matter, and reliance on Boeing Co. v. Harker

Loft, 93 Wn. App. 181, 968 P .2d 14 (1998), directly conflicts with this 

Court's decision in Hamilton v. Dep 't of Labor & Indus., 111 Wn.3d 569, 

761 P.2d 618 (1988). RAP 13.4(b)(l). As pointed out by Judge Dwyer's 

pointed dissent the Court of Appeals erred, inter alia, by relying on its 

own precedence in derrogation of the Supreme Court's precedence. 

Statement of the Case 

Patrick McManus started working for Clark County, Washington, 

on June 12, 1989, as an entry-level maintenance worker, and progressed to 

specialist operating backhoes and flatbed-type trucks. After three years, 

he transferred to the bridge crew doing bridge maintenance, from painting 

to replacing bridge decks to replacing beams. After seven years on the 

bridge crew in 1998, Mr. McManus accepted a position as a street sweeper 

operator. He operated three street sweepers for over a decade, which 
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exposed him to various levels of whole-body vibration. (Certified Appeal 

Board Record, P. McManus, Direct, page 73, line 22; page 74, lines 8, 11, 

15, 18 and 20; page 75, line 21; page 76, line 4; page 80, line 3; page 81, 

lines 14 and 21; page 82, line 1; page 83, lines 11 and 14; and page 84, 

line 25). 

His third sweeper did not have an ergonomic cab, requmng 

Mr. McManus to assume awkward postures to operate it. Furthermore, the 

seat of this third sweeper did not protect him from bumps, vibration, and 

jarring. (CABR, P. McManus- Direct, page 80, line 3; page 81, line 14; 

page 86, line 24; page 87, lines 12 and 23; and page 90, line 17). 

In the first part of 2010, Mr. McManus started to develop a 

problem related to the operation of the Elgin Regenerative Air sweeper. 

Mr. McManus has had injuries and treatment to his low back over the 

years. Then in 2010, the pain in his low back worsened to the point where 

it was radiating across the lower back, down his left leg; as a result, 

effecting his sleep and activities of daily living. Mr. McManus would 

have electric shocks going down his left leg and across the top of his foot. 

Weakness in his lower left leg caused him to stumble and he almost fell 

twice. Between January and April 2011, his low back became 

progressively worse to the point where he could not operate a street 

sweeper without being overwhelmed with pain. He last worked in 
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April2011. (CABR, P. McManus- Direct, page 91, lines 22 and 25; page 

92, lines 7, 9, 16 and 25; page 93, lines 12 and 19; and page 94, lines 16 

and 19). 

Dr. Paul Won, who is Board Certified in family medicine and 

occupational medicine, first treated Patrick McManus on 

January 13, 2005, for a low back injury at work when he was moving a 

rubber speed bump. Mr. McManus twisted and felt a pull in his back but 

he continued working and as a result, had an increase in low back pain. 

On examination, Dr. Won found muscle spasm and limited range of 

motion. Dr. Won prescribed Ibuprofen and a muscle relaxer, and also 

placed Mr. McManus on modified work, which he performed for one day. 

Mr. McManus then went back to his regular job as a street sweeper and his 

low back condition improved. (CABR, Dr. Won- Direct, page 5, line 15; 

page 7, lines, 20, 23 and 25; page 9, line 19; page 10, line 12; page 11, 

lines 6, 8 and 10; page 13, lines 2, 4 and 23; page 14, line 10; page 15, line 

5; and Cross, page 36, line 13). 

Dr. Won next saw Mr. McManus on April 11, 20 11. 

Mr. McManus had gotten a new street sweeper two years before with a 

very poor seat cushion. His back was being jarred when the road was 
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bumpy, or he hit a pothole, and his back pain was getting progressively 

worse. His pain was going down his left thigh, and he was taking 

Tramadol and Dilaudid for pain. He had an epidural injection without 

much improvement, and he had last worked on April 6, 2011. (CABR, 

Dr. Won- Direct, page 18, line 12; page 19, lines 1 and 16; page 20, lines 

7, 17, and 25; and page 21, lines 3, 5 and 8). 

When Dr. Won next examined Mr. McManus, he had difficulty 

standing from a seated position, and walked slowly and stiffly. Mr. 

McManus had limited range of motion of the low back, and could not 

bend backwards. Dr. Won reviewed a Magnetic Resonance Imaging taken 

on June 25, 2010, which was compared to an MRI taken on February 4, 

2006, and showed a new central disc protrusion at 12-3, resulting in 

moderate to severe stenosis, or narrowing, with crowding of the nerve 

root. Dr. Won diagnosed displacement of the lumbar intervertebral disc at 

12-3. Dr. Won continued to treat Mr. McManus through December 15, 

2011. (CABR, Dr. Won- Direct, page 22, lines 13, 15 and 24; page 23, 

lines 3, 5, 11 and 20; and page 30, line 1). 

As the attending physician, Dr. Won testified that driving the street 

sweeper, with the jarring and bouncing, had been a major contributor to 

Mr. McManus' lumbar condition. Mr. McManus worked full time, and a 

major portion of his activity was driving a street sweeper. He had no 
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major outside activities, and is a pretty sedentary guy just doing street 

sweeping work. Mr. McManus is a big man and drives a street sweeper on 

bumpy roads. Physical force equals mass times acceleration, (P=M x A) 

and there was a great force focused on his low back. The L2-3 disc 

protrusion is symptomatic and the distinctive conditions of his 

employment driving a street sweeper were a cause of the disc herniation at 

L2-3. (CABR, Dr. Won- Direct, page 31, lines 10, 15 and 22; page 32, 

lines 6, 11, 16 and 18; Cross, page 38, line 2; and Re-Direct, page 43, 

line 5). 

Dr. Thomas Dietrich, a Board Certified neurosurgeon, conducted a 

one-time medical evaluation of Mr. McManus on July 14, 2011, at the 

request of the Self-Insured Employer, Clark County, pursuant to 

RCW 51.32.11 0(1 ). Dr. Dietrich testified that Mr. McManus' low back 

condition did not arise naturally and proximately from the distinctive 

conditions of his employment; Dr. Dietrich also testified that contributing 

to the development of his degenerative disc disease is a situation where 

you have repetitive bouncing up and down over a period of years, and that 

likely played a role in the rate of degenerative change in Mr. McManus' 

low back condition. (CABR, Dr. Dietrich- Direct, page 8, line 9; page 9, 

line 24; page 26, line 11 ). 
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Dr. James Harris is a Board Certified orthopedic surgeon and an 

active duty medical officer in the Navy. On one of those evenings, 

June 27, 2012, Dr. Harris conducted a records review at the request of the 

employer's attorney. Dr. Harris never examined Mr. McManus. At the 

time of his review, Dr. Harris stated in his report that it was possible that 

the L2-3 disc protrusion were caused by his employment activities. On 

the contrary, when he testified he stated that he does not believe the L2-3 

disc protrusion is symptomatic in any event. ( CABR, Dr. Harris - Direct, 

page 4, line 21; page 5, line 3; page 7, line 12; page 10, line 2; page 11, 

lines 12 and 14; page 12, line 3; page 13, line 1; page 21, line 21; page 22, 

lines 2 and 7; page 26, line 4; Cross, page 37, line 1; and Re-Direct, 

page 44, line 22). 

On December 13, 2011, the Department of Labor and Industries 

affirmed the order dated August 30, 2011, allowing the claim as an 

occupational disease with a manifestation date of June 25, 2010. On 

February 7, 2012, Clark County appealed the Department order allowing 

the claim to the Board of Industrial Insurance Appeals, and its appeal 

proceeded to an evidentiary hearing before an Industrial Appeals Judge. 

On February 21, 2013, an Industrial Appeals Judge issued a 15 page 

Proposed Decision and Order upholding the decision of the Department of 

Labor and Industries. On March 22, 2013, Clark County petitioned to the 
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three member Board for review of the Proposed Decision. On April 5, 

2013, the Board denied Clark County's petition and adopted the Proposed 

Decision. (CABR, pages 1, 36-51,57-71 and 73-76). 

Clark County then appealed to Superior Court for Clark County, 

and the case proceeded to a two-day jury trial on November 18 and 19, 

2013. After having the testimony read to them by the attorneys from the 

Certified Appeal Board Record, being provided the exhibits admitted 

before the Board, and receiving the Court's instructions, the jury reversed 

the Board and the Department in deciding that Mr. McManus did not have 

an occupational disease. On November 19, 2013, the trial court entered 

the Order and Judgment on the jury verdict. (Clerk's Papers Sub. 18). 

The trial court's refusal to give Defendant's Proposed Jury 

Instruction No. 10, inter alia, was appealed to the Washington Court of 

Appeals. While the Court of Appeals' May 18, 2015, decision agreed 

with some of the issues raised by Mr. McManus and remanded the matter 

for a new trial, Division I affirmed the trial court's decision not to give 

Defendant's Proposed Jury Instruction No. 10. 

Finally, on June 8, 2015, the Court of Appeals withdrew its prior 

opinion and sua sponte issued a new opinion. The new opinion of 

June 8, 2015, finally addressed Mr. McManus' request for attorney fees. 
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The Court made an award of attorney fees and costs for time spent on 

appeal contingent upon Mr. McManus prevailing upon remand. 

Argument 

The Supreme Court should grant review because the Court of 

Appeals failed to follow its precedent in Hamilton, 111 Wn.3d 569. 

Instead, the Court of Appeals relied upon its own precedent Boeing Co. v. 

Harker-Lott, 93 Wn. App. 181, which is directly inconsistent with 

Hamilton. The Court should grant review to affirm the primacy of its 

holding in Hamilton: where substantial evidence supports it, the Attending 

Physician- Special Consideration jury instruction is required. 

Additionally, the Court should grant review because the trial court 

failed to recognize the attendant facts and circumstances of the role 

attending physicians play in our workers compensation system. The Court 

should grant review because the trial court failed to do what was right 

under the circumstances because this jury instruction levels the playing 

field between resource-poor injured workers and self-insured employers. 

Review should be granted because the trial court's decision was 

manifestly unreasonable because it meant the jury used a different set of 

rules in reviewing the Board's decision than those used by the Board 

itself. For these reasons, Mr. McManus petitions the Court to review the 

decision of the Court of Appeals. 
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1. Standard of Review 

It is well established that it is within the trial court's discretion 

whether to give a particular jury instruction. Stiley v. Block, 130 Wn.2d 486, 

498, 925 P.2d 194 (1996). Abuse of discretion means a disregard of 

"attendant facts and circumstances." Samantha A. v. Dep 't of Social and 

Health Serv., 171 Wn.2d 623, 645 (20 11 ). This Court has also 

summarized this standard as: 

An exercise of judicial discretion is a composite of, among 
other things, conclusions drawn from objective criteria; it 
means a sound judgment exercised with regard to what is 
right under the circumstances and without doing so 
arbitrarily or capriciously. A decision involving discretion 
will not be disturbed on review except on a clear showing 
of its abuse, that is, discretion manifestly unreasonable, or 
exercised on untenable grounds, or for untenable reasons. 

State Ex Rel. Carroll v. Junker, 79 Wn.2d 12, 26 (1971). Alternatively, 

the trial court abuses its discretion when it makes a decision contrary to 

the law. Wash. State Physicians Ins. Exch. & Ass'n v. Fisons Corp., 122 

Wn.2d 299,339, 858 P.2d 1054 (1993). 

Mr. McManus was entitled to have the trial court give his Proposed 

Jury Instruction No. 10 so long as there was substantial evidence to support 

it. Egede-Nissen v. Crystal Mountain, Inc., 93 Wn.2d 127, 135, 606 P.2d 

1214 ( 1980). When assessing the presence of substantial evidence to support 

the instruction, a court views the evidence in the light most favorable to the 

party who requested it. Mina v. Boise Cascade Corp., 37 Wn. App. 445, 
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448,681 P.2d 880 (1984), affd, 104 Wn.2d 696,710 P.2d 184 (1985). 

2. The law requires instructing the jury on the Attending 

Physician-Special Consideration doctrine where it is supported 

by substantial evidence; failure to do was an abuse of discretion. 

The Court of Appeal's opinion did not question whether there is 

substantial evidence Dr. Won was an attending physician. The dispute is 

whether the trial court abused its discretion in refusing to give Defendant's 

Proposed Jury Instruction No. 10. The Court of Appeals erred when it 

concluded the trial court did not abuse its discretion. 

The law is well settled: the trier of fact is required to give special 

consideration to the testimony of the attending physician. Hamilton, 111 

Wn.2d at 571. This does not mean giving that testimony more weight or 

credibility, and so forth, because those determinations are the province of the 

jury. Hamilton, 111 Wn.2d at 572. No decision ofthe Supreme Court since 

Hamilton has disturbed this rule. Nevertheless, this appeal is not whether the 

Defendant's Proposed Jury Instruction No. 10 is a correct recitation of the 

law, but whether the trial court failed "to do what was right under the 

circumstances." Junker, 79 Wn.2d at 26. It did not. 

The Court of Appeals wrongly relied upon its prior decision Boeing, 

93 Wn. App. at 186; Majority Opinion p. 13. The Boeing decision wrongly 

concluded the Attending Physician - Special Consideration was not required 
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even where there was substantial evidence that an attending physician 

testified in the case. Boeing, 93 Wn. App. at 186. The Court of Appeals 

held that Mr. McManus was still able to argue special consideration, even 

without his Proposed Jury Instruction No. 10. Majority Opinion p. 13. 

The Boeing decision and the present opinion simply ignore the 

unambiguous holding in Hamilton. The Hamilton Court properly 

distinguishes between the Judge advising the jury what is the law and the 

attorney's arguments and statements about the law. Hamilton, 111 Wn. 2d at 

572. This distinction is emphasized by the introductory instruction given by 

the Court, which advises the jury not to confuse the attorney's argument as 

definitive statements of the law. (Court's Jury Instruction No. 1; CP 11 ). 

The Hamilton Court states: 

[The attending physician instruction] reflects binding 
precedent in this state and correctly states the law. Since this 
is a rule of law, it is appropriate that the jury be informed of 
this by the instructions of the court. To refuse to do so would 
convert the rule of law into no more than the opinion of the 
claimant's attorney. 

Hamilton, 111 Wn.2d at 572 (emphasis added). What the Hamilton Court 

proscribed is exactly what the Court of Appeals' opinion allowed: refusing 

to advise the jury on this rule of law. Merely allowing counsel to argue this 

is not the same as the Court's pronouncement that special consideration of 

attending physician's opinions is the law. The Court should grant review of 
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the Court of Appeals' mistaken analysis of Supreme Court precedent. 

The Supreme Court's Hamilton decision is in marked contrast with 

the analysis of the Court of Appeals in its Boeing decision, "But the 

Hamilton court did not hold that an instruction to that effect was mandatory." 

Boeing, 93 Wn. App. at 186. The Boeing Court is simply wrong; the 

Supreme Court in Hamilton did say it was mandatory because if it were not 

then it is only argument by the attorneys. If it is not mandatory, according to 

the Supreme Court, then the jury is permitted to disregard statements by 

attorneys about the law. The instruction is mandatory, assuming substantial 

evidence supports it, because the jury must know what is the law from the 

judge. The jury must know what is the law so it can place the attorney's 

arguments and the evidence in the proper context. 

In the present case, the Court of Appeals erred because it relied on its 

own precedent, which derogated the Supreme Court's precedent. Judge 

Dwyer's dissent is correct on this elementary point of law: where there is a 

conflict between the Court of Appeals precedent and the Supreme Court 

precedent, the Supreme Court's decision must be followed. Clark County v. 

McManus, No. 72437-1-L slip op. dissent at 2-3 (Wash. June 8, 2015, 

Dwyer, J., dissenting). This Court said the same thing as Judge Dwyer in its 

Hamilton decision. Hamilton, 111 Wn.2d at 571. 

If Defendant's Proposed Jury Instruction No. 1 0 was required, then 
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the trial court abused its discretion. As noted above, failure to follow the law 

is a per se abuse of discretion. Fisons Corp, 122 Wn. 2d at 339. The trial 

court must be directed to give this instruction upon retrial. 

3. The trial court abused its discretion by ignoring the attendant 

facts and circumstances regarding the special role attending 

physicians hold under the Industrial Insurance Act. 

Even if the Court believes this instruction is not required, it can still 

conclude the trial court abused its discretion because it ignored the attendant 

facts and circumstances. Samantha A., 171 Wn.2d 645. The medical 

testimony presented to the jury was from Dr. Won, attending physician; 

Dr. Dietrich, one-time examiner; and Dr. Harris, record reviewer. The 

attendant facts and circumstances of this case is that it is a workers 

compensation case, which is its own "unique piece of legislation," from 

which courts are required to liberally construe its provisions in favor of 

workers and beneficiaries. Hamilton, 111 Wn. 2d at 572-73. 

Within this system, attending physicians are given special status and 

role. See RCW 51.36.060 (duties of attending physicians); RCW 51.52.050 

and RCW 51.52.060 (all departmental orders must be served on attending 

physicians); WAC 296-20-01002 (defines role of attending physician 

vis-a-vis consulting and treating physicians). This role places the attending 

physician in a special role when helping the injured worker, the Department 
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of Labor and Industries, the Board of industrial Insurance Appeals, and our 

courts understand the various medical conditions and their impact on the 

injured worker. 

Furthermore, as the physician who has seen the injured worker the 

most it also places Dr. Won in a special position within our system of 

industrial insurance. The trial court abused its discretion because it failed to 

address these facts and circumstances, which required advising the jury of 

the longstanding special consideration doctrine. There were no counter

veiling facts or circumstances the trial court could have relied upon to 

determine it was legally inappropriate to give this instruction. Therefore, the 

Court of Appeals erred when it concluded the trial court did not abuse its 

discretion. 

4. The trial court failed to do what was right because giving the 

Attending Physician - Special Consideration instruction levels 

the playing field between injured workers and self-insured 

employers. 

The trial court abused its discretion by failing to do what was right 

under the circumstances. Junker, 79 Wn.2d at 26. As identified by the 

dissenting opinion, one of the policy purposes of this longstanding rule is to 

level the economic playing field between injured workers and Self-Insured 

Employers. Clark County v. McManus, No. 72437-1-1, slip op. dissent at 5-6 
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(Wash. June 8, 2015, Dwyer, J., dissenting). Unless the claim winds its way 

through the appeal process into superior court, the injured worker must pay 

for his or her own expert witnesses to testify. As was recognized by our 

Legislature, the Act was intended to minimize the economic loss to injured 

workers. RCW 51.12.01 0. An injured worker, unable to work or work at his 

former earning capacity, cannot afford to hire multiple doctors and experts. 

A Self-Insured Employer can, and often does, hire multiple experts 

to testify. This appeal is a prime example of this practice. After having 

Dr. Dietrich's one-time examination report, the Self-Insured Employer paid 

to have a second expert prepare a report based solely on a review of records. 

The injured worker only had his long-standing attending physician, Dr. Won, 

to rely upon. Defendant's Proposed Jury Instruction No. 10 implicitly tells 

the jury it is the law in workers' compensation cases not to play the numbers 

game: which side has more experts. 

Instead, it explicitly tells the jury it is the law of Washington they 

must specially consider and give careful thought to the opinions of the

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