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

qualified and trained legal mind cannot ascertain how give special 

consideration to the testimony of an attending physician, then a lay person 

sitting on a jury should not be expected to either. For this reason alone, 

this instruction should be discarded given the resulting harm, which is 

contrary to the general legal rule applied to any and all jury instructions. 

See Rekhter v. State, 180 Wn.2d 102,323 P.3d 1036, 1044 (2014). 

The prior appellate decisions in Boeing as well as McClelland 

highlight a broader point, which is that this special consideration 

Petition for Review 8 



instruction is of no value to a trier of fact given the instruction does not 

require them to give greater weight or credibility to the testimony of a 

treating physician, merely careful thought during deliberations. Boeing 

Co., 93 Wn. App. at 188 (citing McClelland v. ITT Rayonier, Inc., 65 Wn. 

App. 386, 394, 828 P.2d 1138 (1992)). Providing careful thought to a 

witness's testimony is expected of any trier of fact. Accordingly, reciting 

this general expectation to a jury does not provide them any additional 

value in deciding the merits of a case especially when the jury is instructed 

on WPI 1.02 and 2.1 0. The special consideration attending physician 

instruction, at the very least, is redundant and unnecessary when 

considering the instructions as a whole. !d. These resulting harms 

coupled with the complete and utter lack of value transmitted by this 

particular instruction to a trier of fact are enough for this court to 

reconsider the decision it made in Hamilton. 

(B) If the special consideration attending physician 

instruction remains, discretion on whether to allow the instruction to 

be submitted to a jury should rest with the trial judge. 

First, the legal precedent addressing this issue, which followed 

Hamilton, correctly concluded that providing WPI 155.13.01 is not 

mandatory and should remain within the discretion of the trial court. 
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Secondly, keeping discretion with the trial judge, who IS m the best 

possible position to assess the individual facts and circumstances 

presented in an appeal from a Board decision ensures the most just 

outcome by a trier of fact. 

The case that speaks directly to the action taken by the trial judge 

here is that of Boeing Co. v. Harker-Lot!. In assessing the trial court's 

actions in refusing WPI 155.13.01, the appellate court noted that, "No case 

has specifically held that such an instruction must be given when the 

evidence supports it." Boeing Co., 93 Wn. App. at 186. The court then 

reiterated the general rule as it pertains to jury instructions, which is that 

"instructions are sufficient if they permit a party to argue his or her theory 

of the case, are not misleading, and, when read as a whole, properly 

inform the jury on the applicable law." !d. at 186. The appellate court 

went on to reason that this test was satisfied such that the trial court's 

action was not manifestly unreasonable. !d. at 187-188. 

In this case, the trial court was well within its authority to decline 

to give to the jury the appellant's proposed instruction requesting special 

consideration be provided to the testimony of the attending physician. RP 

- Second Supplemental Excerpt at 43. In applying the general rule 

governing the sufficiency of jury instructions, as well as WPI 1.02, and in 
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looking to the instruction addressing expert testimony contained within 

WPI 2.1 0, the appellant had no restrictions placed upon his ability to argue 

that special consideration should be afforded to Dr. Won's testimony as 

compared to Drs. Dietrich and Harris. As well, the instructions as a whole 

were not misleading and properly informed the jury on the applicable law, 

which had to do with causation of claimant's back condition. 

The appellant has argued that the Hamilton decision has 

established binding precedent that requires providing the special 

consideration attending physician instruction in each and every case when 

an attending physician testifies. Appellant's Petition for Review at 10-13; 

see also Clark County, No. 72437-1-I, dissent at 2-3. This interpretation, 

taken to its logical extreme, would improperly remove the discretion 

entrusted to trial courts to assess the validity of requested instructions 

contrary to the law as previously mentioned. This as well would result in 

an unfair adjudication of Board appeals within Superior Court for both 

employers and injured workers alike. 

By way of illustration, the City of Bellevue recently argued to the 

appellate court that the trial court had erred when it refused to submit to 

the jury WPI 155.13.01. Larson v. City of Bellevue, No. 71101-6-I, slip 

op. at 28 (Wash. July 13, 2015). In an exercise of discretion, the trial 
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court expressed concerns over the substance of the testimony provided by 

the attending physician in comparison to other more elaborate testimony 

from medical experts. !d. at 29. The trial court elected not to provide the 

instruction due to concerns that it would be misleading. !d. at 28-29. The 

appellate court found this action was proper and not an abuse of discretion 

citing to the Boeing decision. !d. at 29. It is not a stretch to conclude the 

worker's likelihood of prevailing in that case would have been 

detrimentally impacted if that instruction had been mandated. The 

wherewithal to avoid placing on a pedestal lackluster testimony from an 

attending physician by the trial judge in this instance allowed for a more 

equitable adjudication of the issue presented, which happened to be 

decided in the worker's favor. A strict interpretation of Hamilton would 

bring to an end this reasoned and justified exercise of discretion by a trial 

judge to the detriment of all parties. 

2. The trial court did not err in allowing into the record 

during the cross-examination of Dr. Won the statement from an 

expert who did not testify. 

Trial courts have "broad discretion in ruling on evidentiary matters 

and will not be overturned absent manifest abuse of discretion." Sintra, 

Inc. v. City of Seattle, 131 Wn.2d 640, 662-63, 935 P.2d 555 (1997). In 
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this case, the appellate court misconstrued Dr. Won's testimony. This 

misunderstanding of the testimony is apparent in appellate court's written 

opinion given there was no mention whatsoever made to the clear and 

irrefutable reliance Dr. Won placed on the ultimate opinions previously 

offered by Dr. Wrobel. See Clark County, 72437-1-1, slip op. at 7-10. 

(A) The statement offered from Dr. Wrobel was admissible 

under ER 703 as the basis for Dr. Woo's expert opinion and pursuant 

to ER 705 was subject to disclosure on cross-examination. 

Experts are allowed to testify regarding facts or data that the expert 

uses to formulate their own opinions. ER 703. The rules of evidence go 

on to state that while an expert may provide opinions without disclosure of 

the underlying facts or data that the expert may be required to disclose 

those facts and data on cross-examination. ER 705. This is what occurred 

in this instance as Dr. Won had testified to relying upon his own 

neurosurgeon Dr. Wrobel in order to arrive at a his own diagnosis. CABR 

Won at 37-38. 

Q. Do you believe that L2-3 disc protrusion is symptomatic? 

A. Yes. 

Q. How - how are you making that conclusion as compared to his 
other multi-level-

A. The neurosurgeon felt that, our neurosurgeon. 
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Q. Your neurosurgeon Dr. Wrobel? 

A. Right. 

The first necessary step in rendering an opinion as to causation is 

to identify what physical condition is in fact causing a worker to have 

difficulties. "The causal connection between a claimant's physical 

condition and his or her employment must be established by competent 

medical testimony which shows that the disease is probably, as opposed to 

possibly, caused by the employment." Dennis v. Dept. of Labor & Indus., 

109 Wn.2d 467, 477, 745 P.2d 1295 (1987). An opinion addressing 

causation as a matter of logic is inextricably intertwined with a 

corresponding medical diagnosis that identifies a disabling physical 

condition. This reality, which was overlooked by the appellate court, is 

further reflected in the sole question that was submitted to the jury. See 

RP- Second Supplemental Excerpt at 45. Evident from Dr. Won's own 

testimony was that he was relying upon the opinions and conclusions 

reached by Dr. Wrobel addressing pathology, which was not separate from 

the issue of causation. 

3. The trial court did not err in refusing to alter a finding 

of fact of the Board listed within Instruction No. 4, paragraph 4. 
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The trial court had no authority to alter the final and binding 

decision made by the Board. The appellant had waived any argument or 

right to seek amendment of a finding of fact from the trial court as no 

issue had ever previously been made of this alleged error while the matter 

was still before the Board. Finally, any failure to amend paragraph 4 

within Instruction No. 4 was cured by the trial court in submitting to the 

jury the appellant's proposed verdict form. As well, the attorney for the 

appellant took it upon himself to correct the jury in closing argument as to 

the presence of the alleged scrivener's error thereby curing any defect in 

the instruction. 

(A) The trial court did not have authority to alter the 

Board's ultimate finding of fact. 

The appellant contended that he was aggrieved by the finding of 

fact entered by the Board but had waived any objection to the Board 

record by not filing a petition for review. RCW 51.52.104 mandates the 

necessary procedure to take when a party is aggrieved by a Board 

determination. The Court of Appeals in the Homemakers Upjohn v. 

Russell further stated "that any party who was aggrieved by a hearing 

examiner's proposed decision and order and who thereafter might wish to 

contest such order would in fact file a petition." Homemakers Upjohn v. 
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Russell, 33 Wn. App. 777, 780, 658 P.2d 27 (1983). The court in 

Homemakers went on to state that any aggrieved party who failed to file a 

petition thereby taking specific exception to determinations made by the 

Board would be deemed to have waived their objections to the record. !d. 

In this case, the appellant filed a Response to Employer's Petition 

for Review dated April 5, 2013, which took no exceptions to the Board 

decision and in fact wholeheartedly endorsed the adopted Proposed 

Decision and Order. CABR at 19-33. This filing was despite the Board's 

use of the word "cervical" as opposed to "lumbar" contained within the 

ultimate finding of fact at issue. 

The appellate court incorrectly dismissed this argument finding 

that the appellant was not an aggrieved party as he had prevailed in the 

proceedings before the Board. Clark County, No. 72437-1-1, slip op. at 

14. Despite this statement, the appellate court then went on to find that the 

appellant was "precluded" from establishing the necessary causal link 

between his back condition and industrial exposure. Id at 16. If the 

Board's findings of fact preclude a party from establishing the necessary 

causal link to justify the resulting conclusions of law, by the very 

definition you are an aggrieved party. On this basis, the reasoning 

employed by the court in Homemakers was on point. 
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Furthermore, RCW 51.52.115 states that in appeals from a Board 

determination involving a jury, "the court shall by instruction advise the 

jury of the exact findings of the Board." RCW 51.52.115. This does not 

leave room for the trial court to amend such findings as counsel for 

appellant has requested given the operative language ofthe statute. This is 

especially true when the Board was put on notice of this alleged error 

within the respondent's Petition for Review and chose to still adopt the 

language at issue as its final and binding determination. CABR at 48, 70, 

1. That very fact takes this particular action out of the realm of alleged 

error and confirms it as deliberate action taken by the Board. For the 

appellate court to conclude otherwise would usurp the Board's authority to 

first address orders issued by the Department. See 51.52.050. 

The appellate court, to justify finding the trial court erred in failing 

to amend the particular finding of fact, cited to the Stratton decision. 

Clark County, No. 72437-1-1, slip op. at 15-16 (citing Stratton v. Dept. of 

Labor & Indus., 7 Wn. App. 652, 501 P.2d 1072 (1972)). However, the 

Stratton decision is clearly distinguishable from the case at hand. First 

off, there was medical evidence presented by Dr. Won of a cervical 

condition at the base of the appellant's skull that "tends to press on the 

nerve." CABR Won at 5. This is contrary to the Stratton case, which 

found the language at issue was "not based upon any medical or other 

Petition for Review 17 



evidence in the record." Stratton, 7 Wn. App. at 654. More importantly, 

the finding of the Board that was stricken in Stratton was clearly not a 

material finding as it was in this particular appeal. !d. at 654-56; see also 

Gaines v. Dept. of Labor & Indus., 1 Wn. App. 547, 551-553, 463 P.2d 

269 (1969) (which too is not supportive as the court ruled it had authority 

to prevent "argumentative" findings of fact from being instructed to the 

jury but not "findings of ultimate fact."). Accordingly, the trial courts 

within the above appellate decisions were not restricted by the mandates 

imposed by RCW 51.52.115. 

(B) If it was improper not to revise the Board's fmding of 

fact, this mistake was cured by further action taken by the trial court 

and argument of appellant's counsel. 

As cited previously, the appellant's requested verdict form 

properly submitted the sole question that was to be decided by the jury, 

which referenced a back condition and not any cervical condition thereby 

rendering this issue moot. RP- Second Supplemental Excerpt at 45; CP 

at 98. The trial court submitted the appellant's requested verdict form 

with the full knowledge that it would cure any issue or problem previously 

raised involving paragraph 4 within Instruction No. 4, which it did given it 

directed the jury to address the sole material ultimate fact under appeal. 
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RP- Second Supplemental Excerpt at 47-51. Moreover, counsel for the 

appellant within closing argument also directed the jury that this finding 

involving the neck was a "minor error" and that there was "no question" 

they were to address the low back condition. RP at 79-80; RP - Second 

Supplemental Excerpt at 25. This correction was not addressed or 

exploited by respondent's counsel, which coupled with the appellant's 

verdict form, made this a non-issue. 

4. If the trial court erred as alleged, no error could be 

considered harmful or prejudicial to the appellant. 

It further cannot be stressed enough that any alleged error 

committed by the trial court was not harmful, which on a substantive basis 

was not addressed by the appellate court within their published opinion. 

Dr. Won, the sole expert to testify on behalf of the appellant who testified 

based upon an inaccurate and incomplete understanding of the appellant's 

medical history acknowledged that his initial opinions had been proven 

wrong and that the ultimate question addressing causation posed to the 

jury was "unknowable." Consequently, even if the trial court had not 

purportedly erred, the outcome of trail would not have been materially 

affected. Not only would the outcome have not changed had the alleged 

errors not occurred within a reasonable probability, it could not have 
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changed irrespective of the action taken by the trial court within these 

assignments of error under the facts presented. Brundridge v. Fluor Fed. 

Servs., Inc., 164 Wn2d 432, 446, 191 P.3d 879 (2008) (quoting State v. 

Halstien, 122 Wn.2d 109, 127, 857 P.2d 270 (1993)). 

IV. CONCLUSION 

For the reasons stated above, respondent requests this Court affirm 

the June 8, 2015 appellate court decision with respect to the sole finding 

that concluded the trial court did not abuse its discretion when refusing to 

give the proposed instruction, WPI 155.13.01. The respondent further 

requests that review be granted to overturn the erroneous appellate court's 

determinations that resulted in a reverse and remand for a new trial. The 

appellate court was incorrect in determining the trial court had erred in 

properly refusing to amend the Board's affirmed material finding of fact. 

The trial court too acted properly to permit a statement by Dr. Wrobel into 

the record based upon Dr. Won's demonstrated reliance on Dr. Wrobel to 

arrive at his own opinions and conclusions. Finally, ifthe trial court erred, 

it was harmless.